IDE APEC STUDY CENTER Working Paper Series 00/01 – No. 4

On Principles of APEC

Tatsushi Ogita

MARCH 2001

APEC STUDY CENTER
INSTITUTE OF DEVELOPING ECONOMIES

IDE APEC STUDY CENTER Working Paper Series 00/01 – No. 4

On Principles of APEC

March 2001

Tatsushi Ogita

Fuji Research Institute Corporation

CONTENTS

I.	Introductory Reflection: Beyond the Failure of EVSL1		
	I–1.	The Failure of EVSL and "the APEC Principle"	1
	I–2.	APEC at a Crossroads and the Necessity to Review Its Principles	2
II	. A I	Historical Review of the Principles of APEC	4
	II–1.	Canberra, 1989.	4
	II–2.	Seoul, 1991	6
	II–3.	Seattle, 1993	7
	II–4.	Osaka, 1995	8
	II–5.	Vancouver, 1997	10
II	I. A	n Analysis of the Principles of APEC	11
	III–1.	Classifying the Principles of APEC	11
	III–2.	Considering the Internal Principles of APEC	12
I۷	/. Co	onclusive Reflection: Towards an Efficient and Effective APEC	13
B	ibliogr	aphy	15

I. Introductory Reflection: Beyond the Failure of EVSL

I-1. The Failure of EVSL and "the APEC Principle"

"[T]he APEC principle of voluntarism" was one focus of the Early Voluntary Sectoral Liberalization (EVSL) controversy in the Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC). EVSL was an unprecedentedly aggressive trade liberalization initiative in the APEC process, which requested each member economy to conduct tariff and non-tariff barrier liberalization, as well as trade facilitation and economic and technical cooperation (ecotech), in the specified fifteen sectors. The question was whether *every* member had to take action in *all* the three areas (i.e., liberalization, facilitation and ecotech) in *all* the fifteen sectors, or not.

APEC's ninth Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement adopted at Vancouver in November 1997, announced the official commencement of EVSL, and its Annex entitled "Early Voluntary Sectoral Liberalization" characterized the new initiative as follows (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1997, Annex, Paragraph 8 / *Italicized* by the author quoting):

...the process of early liberalization is conducted on the basis of *the APEC* principle of voluntarism, whereby each economy remains free to determine the sectoral initiatives in which it will participate, we (APEC ministers) therefore call for the development of appropriate agreements or arrangements for market-opening and facilitation and economic and technical cooperation measures...

On this basis, Japan, on one side in the EVSL debate, later insisted to be free to not participate in the liberalization initiatives for the "fish and fish products" and "forest products" sectors, which were economically and politically sensitive for the country. Adversely, the United States and other liberalization-supporting members on the other side of the debate maneuvered EVSL into a "package deal", which meant that all members would be required to conduct liberalization as well as facilitation and ecotech in all the EVSL sectors, including the aforementioned sensitive ones Japan cited.

The controversy and the confrontation between them had never been settled to the very end. APEC finally gave up on trying to implement the tariff liberalization element of EVSL, declaring at its tenth Ministerial Meeting at Kuala Lumpur in November 1998 to sending the element to the World Trade Organization (WTO) agenda. The Untied States and Australia expressed their discontent with this conclusion, whereas Japan perceived it as "an

overwhelming victory" (Asahi Shimbun, 19 Nov. 1998). 1

In this controversy, Japan had strongly adhered to "voluntarism" as a traditional and general "APEC principle". In fact, however, such a principle of voluntarism had never appeared in any of APEC's official documents before the Vancouver Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement. Even the Seoul APEC Declaration adopted in 1991 (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1991: Annex) which "represents the principles, objectives and understandings of APEC...and provides a firm foundation on which to base APEC's work" (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1991: Paragraph 8), contains no "voluntarism" or "voluntary". The same goes for the general principles for liberalization and facilitation in the Osaka Action Agenda of 1995 (APEC Leaders Meeting 1995b: Part One, Section A), which sets an overall guideline for APEC activities. The first appearance of the word "voluntary" in the context of liberalization was in the seventh Ministerial Meeting's Joint Statement of 1995 (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1995: Paragraph 6). The word "voluntarism" did not appear, as mentioned above, until Vancouver 1997.

In this sense, "the APEC principle", which Japan relied upon in carrying through with unprecedented stubborn objection, did not necessarily seem to have any firm, formal or historical grounds. On the other hand, it could be also true that some members, such as the United States, lacked enough understanding of the principles---written or *de facto---*-on which APEC had actually been working with, and that they had expected too much from the institution. This kind of problem regarding the "principles" might be behind the result of EVSL, the first major and obvious failure in APEC's decade-long history. The failure of EVSL deprived APEC of credibility and momentum, and now puts the institution at a difficult crossroads.

I–2. APEC at a Crossroads and the Necessity to Review Its Principles

APEC is considered to be at the crossroads, at a beginning of the 21st century, entering into the third or fourth phase.

The first phase was from the institution's foundation in 1989, to the fifth Ministerial and the first Leaders Meetings at Vancouver and nearby Blake Island in 1993. Before these Meetings, APEC mostly concentrated upon bringing a successful conclusion to the Uruguay Round of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), while discreetly pursuing the intra-regional trade liberalization and incrementally progressing the economic or development

_

¹ For the details of the EVSL consultations, refer to Okamoto (2000), Wesley (2000), and Ogita (2000).

cooperation (later called "ecotech"). The Leaders Meeting, established with the initiative of the United States, was APEC's biggest and last effort in promoting the Uruguay Round. There, the leaders "envision[ed] a community of Asia Pacific economies" (APEC Leaders Meeting 1993: Paragraph 5), which pressured Europe into cooperating a conclusion to the Round by suggesting that the Asia Pacific region---occupying half of the world's production and trade---would possibly head towards the formation of a regional trade arrangement. This contributed the Round's conclusion in December 1993, and pushed APEC and its intra-regional trade liberalization into the next phase.

The second phase is characterized as a period without the GATT/WTO round and is thus, in a way, still continuing in 2001. This long phase can be further divided into two. The first three years from 1994 to 1996 could be called *the short second phase*, and was when APEC was in the limelight. The momentum of intra-regional trade liberalization given by the first Leaders Meeting brought about the announcement of their commitment "to complete the achievement of [their] goal of free and open trade and investment in the Asia-Pacific no later than the year 2020" (APEC Leaders Meeting 1994: Paragraph 6) at the second Leaders Meeting at Bogor in 1994. This "Bogor goal" necessitated the setting of the guideline for achieving it as the Osaka Action Agenda (APEC Leaders Meeting 1995b) adopted at the third Leaders Meeting in 1995. Based on this guideline, in 1996, APEC established the first version of the Action Plans towards the Bogor goal and declared its advancement "from vision to action".²

The remaining years of the long second phase, or *the short third phase*, were depicted as APEC's first decline, caused by two failures. One was of EVSL mentioned above. This ambitious project officially initiated in 1996 and commenced in 1997, was a reflection of discontent with the Action Agenda / Action Plan scheme, which seemed too lenient for some members to realize the Bogor goal. Its failure might originate from neglecting the reason as to why APEC's intra-regional liberalization scheme had inevitably been formulated so loosely. The other failure was the response to the Asian financial crisis which broke out in 1997. This exposed APEC's insufficient ability in coping with such a problem that was drastically influential and required urgent measures. These two failures deprived APEC of credibility and momentum at the turn of the century.

The third or fourth phase is a period when APEC coexists with the WTO round for the second time since its foundation, and for the first time since its establishing the intra-regional

_

² This was the subtitle of the third Leaders Meeting's declaration adopted at Subic in 1996 (APEC Leaders Meeting 1996).

liberalization scheme towards the Bogor goal in the mid-90's. This phase was meant to begin in 1999 with the commencement of the Millennium Round at the WTO Ministerial Meeting in Seattle, but did not. APEC, however, was already in transition to the coexistence since 1999, and will actually step into the next phase if WTO succeeds the retrial to start up the new round in 2001.

In the new phase with the coming WTO round, each APEC member's effort for liberalization will increase much more in the multilateral negotiation than in the Asia-Pacific forum. Furthermore, as far as liberalization-reluctant countries including Japan are concerned, their efforts can be practically limited, not only concentrated, within WTO. This can cause substantial vacancy of APEC's own intra-regional liberalization initiative, which has been the most highlighted among its activities since 1994, and cause further loss of its momentum accordingly. Not only the members' efforts for liberalization but also their ability of negotiating for it will be taken more to the WTO than to APEC. This will especially be the case in relatively small governments with limited English-speaking personnel.³

Such upcoming situation require APEC to be efficient and effective. EVSL-like excessively ambitious, demanding and fruitless projects must accelerate each member's fatigue and disappointment for APEC, and succeedingly the eclipse of the institution itself (Ogita 2001: 65). Then, in order to articulate what APEC can and cannot do, it is necessary to review its principles. This is the purpose of this paper.

II. A Historical Review of the Principles of APEC

II-1. Canberra, 1989

APEC's initial official words were spoken at its first Ministerial Meeting in Canberra in November 1989, where the institution was formally established. The annual Ministerial Meeting is APEC's primary organ, and, therefore, its Joint Statements are the institution's principal official documents. The first Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement, however, was unusually short and uniquely complemented by the longer Chairman's Summary Statement. This Statement included the following paragraph entitled "General Principles of Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation" (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1989b: Paragraph 16):

-

³ A relevant story was told by a Thai official at the author's interview on 12 Feburuary 2001 in Bankgkok.

... a consensus emerged in the following principles of Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation:

- the objective of enhanced Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation is to sustain the growth and development of the region, and in this way, to contribute to the growth and development of the world economy;
- cooperation should recognise the diversity of the region, including differing social and economic systems and current levels of development;
- cooperation should involve a commitment to open dialogue and consensus, with equal respect for the views of all participants;
- cooperation should be based on non-formal consultative exchanges of views among Asia Pacific economies;
- cooperation should focus on those economic areas where there is scope to advance common interests and achieve mutual benefits;
- consistent with the interests of Asia Pacific economies, cooperation should be directed at strengthening the open multilateral trading system; it should not involve the formation of a trading bloc;
- cooperation should aim to strengthen the gains from interdependence, both for the region and the world economy, including by encouraging the flow of goods, services, capital and technology;
- cooperation should complement and draw upon, rather than detract from, existing organisations in the region, including formal intergovernmental bodies such as ASEAN and less formal consultative bodies like the Pacific Economic Cooperation Conference (PECC); and
- participation by Asia Pacific economies should be assessed in the light of the strength of economic linkages with the region, and may be extended in future on the basis of consensus on the part of all participants.

These principles were somewhat desultory, widely ranging from the purpose and direction of APEC to the conditions for participating in the institution. They were called "general principles" and were just that, generally describing what APEC should be and how it should work as a whole, rather than substantial guidelines of how each member should act and cooperate with each other in this international body. This could be because it being an infant at that time, APEC was truly just a forum and had few concrete projects of cooperation.

It should be noted that these principles were included in the Chairman's Summary Statement, not in the Joint Statement. According to Hirano (1996: 17), the Statement could have been prepared for adoption by the ministers at the Canberra Meeting, as a basic document of APEC, but in actuality were not. This meant that these principles were not agreed upon among the members as a formal instrument of APEC and, in this sense, were quasi-official.

II-2. Seoul, 1991

APEC's next statement regarding its principles could be the Seoul APEC Declaration adopted at the third Ministerial Meeting in November 1991, as the Annex to the Joint Statement (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1991). This Declaration was based on the aforementioned Chairman's Summary Statement at Canberra, and is sometimes called the "APEC Charter" (Hirano 1996: 17). As briefly mentioned in **I-1**, the Declaration was officially characterized as follows (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1991: Paragraph 8):

... the Declaration is a significant step forward for the development of the APEC process. The Declaration represents the principles, objectives and understandings of APEC; endows APEC with a clear international personality; and provides a firm foundation on which to base APEC's work in the years to come.

The Declaration consisted of the following six parts, which seemed to be the "breakdown" of the General Principles in the Canberra Statement:

- Objectives
- Scope of Activity
- Mode of Operation
- Participation
- Organisation
- The Future of APEC

None of them were entitled "principles", but a principle-like essence can be seen in the "Mode of Operation" part as follows (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1991: Annex, Paragraph 4-5):

- 4. Cooperation will be based on:
- (a) the principle of mutual benefit, taking into account the differences in the stages of economic development and in the socio-political systems, and giving due consideration to the needs of developing economies; and
- (b) a commitment to open dialogue and consensus-building, with equal respect for the views of all participants.
- 5. APEC will operate through a process of consultation and exchange of views among high-level representatives of APEC economies, drawing upon research, analysis and policy ideas contributed by participating economies and other relevant organisations including the ASEAN and the South Pacific Forum (SPF) Secretariats and the PECC.

These looked more detailed and sophisticated than the General Principles in the Canberra Statement. In fact, however, they were still vague and abstract, and did not articulate how each member should act in composing concrete APEC activities. Rather than being guidelines for implementing and accomplishing something, they were aspects of concern for Asian developing members, especially the countries of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), which were cautious about a rigidly institutionalized APEC dominated by industrialized members. This could be a reflection of APEC still in its early years, depicted as "the first phase" in I-2, when the regional body was more concentrated on sustaining its coherence than realizing substantial fruits of cooperation.

II-3. Seattle, 1993

"Open regionalism" is one of the most famous APEC jargon. It appeared for the first time in the fifth Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement adopted at Seattle in November 1993 as (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1993a: Paragraph 6 / *Italicized* by the author quoting):

The Foreign Minister [Prasong Soonsiri of Thailand] stressed the achievement of regional trade liberalization must be made through consultation in a manner consistent with the principles of GATT and *open regionalism*, with full recognition of members' differences in levels of economic development.

The simultaneously-adopted Declaration on an Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation Trade and Investment Framework also included the words (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1993b: Introduction / *Italicized* by the author quoting):

[Ministers of the APEC members] Determined to work through APEC toward the future development of *open regionalism* and market-driven economic interdependence in the Asia Pacific region; ...

There was, however, no specific definition of "open regionalism" in those documents. It can be found in the following year's Report of the Eminent Persons Group (EPG), APEC's advisory board, as follows (Eminent Persons Group 1994: Executive Summary, Paragraph 2-3):

[T]he principle of "open regionalism", by which we [Eminent Persons] mean a process of regional cooperation whose outcome is not only the actual reduction of internal (intra-regional) barriers to economic interaction but also the actual reduction of external barriers to economies not part of the regional enterprise; our

commitment, above all, to the process of global liberalization, is thus in no way compromised; indeed it is emphasized and strengthened, because any regional enterprise governed by the principle of open regionalism will, by definition, be a building block for and contribute to a freer global economy.

We believe that the concept of "open regionalism" can be fully achieved if the APEC members continue to work for global liberalization in the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) and the new World Trade Organization (WTO)...and if they included four nonmutually exclusive elements in their regional liberalization program:

- the maximum possible extent of unilateral liberalization;
- a commitment to further reduce their trade and investment barriers toward non-APEC countries:
- an offer to extend the benefits of APEC liberalization to nonmembers on a mutually reciprocal basis; and
- recognition that any individual APEC member can extend its APEC liberalization toward free trade to nonmembers on a conditional basis (via free trade arrangements) or on an unconditional basis ...

The principle of "open regionalism" was very important to understand the nature of APEC's intra-regional liberalization initiative in the second phase, mentioned in **I-2**, after the Seattle / Blade Island Meetings. This was, however, about the external relations of the APEC liberalization, not defining how each APEC member should conduct liberalization in what relations and interactions with the other APEC members, which was critical in the EVSL controversy as mentioned in **I-1**.

II-4. Osaka, 1995

The APEC liberalization was mostly propelled by the second Leaders Declaration adopted at Bogor in November 1994, the so-called Bogor Declaration. In a sense, however, the Declaration was notorious because it only set the deadline, vaguely declaring "to complete the achievement of [the] goal of free and open trade and investment in the Asia-Pacific no later than the year 2020" (APEC Leaders Meeting 1994: Paragraph 6), but mentioned nothing about the modality to achieve the "Bogor goal". In short, APEC first defined the external relations in its liberalization with the principle of open regionalism, secondly set the deadline, but left out the question of how the APEC members would pursue the goal until the Osaka Meetings in November 1995.

The documents adopted at Osaka contained many keywords necessary to comprehend the APEC liberalization. First, both the Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement and the Leaders

Declaration contained the word "voluntary", which appeared for the first time in the context of liberalization in APEC, as follows (*Italicized* by the author quoting):

They [Ministers] agreed that the draft [of the Osaka Action Agenda] reflected the *voluntary* commitment and the political determination of each member economy to achieve the objectives set by the Economic Leaders at Bogor. (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1995: Paragraph 6)

We [Leaders] will encourage and concert the evolving efforts of *voluntary* liberalization in the region, ... (APEC Leaders Meeting 1995a: Paragraph 3)

Second, the Osaka Action Agenda, which was a comprehensive guideline for the implementation of the Bogor Declaration, represented the following General Principles "applied to the entire APEC liberalization and facilitation process under the Action Agenda to achieve the long-term goal of free and open trade and investment no later than 2010 in the case of industrialized economies and the year 2020 in the case of developing economies" (APEC Leaders Meeting 1995b: Part One, Section A, Introduction):

- 1. Comprehensiveness
- 2. WTO-Consistency
- 3. *Comparability*
- 4. Non-Discrimination
- 5. Transparency
- 6. Standstill
- 7. Simultaneous Start, Continuous Process and Differentiated Timetables
- 8. *Flexibility*
- 9. Cooperation

Among those, the following three were especially important in the APEC liberalization (APEC Leaders Meeting 1995b: Part One, Section A):

1. Comprehensiveness

The APEC liberalization and facilitation process will be comprehensive, addressing all impediments to achieving the long-term goal of free and open trade and investment.

3. Comparability

APEC economies will endeavor to ensure the overall comparability of their trade and investment liberalization and facilitation, taking into account the general level of liberalization and facilitation already achieved by each

APEC economy.

8. Flexibility

Considering the different levels of economic development among the APEC economies and the diverse circumstances in each economy, flexibility will be available in dealing with issues arising from such circumstances in the liberalization and facilitation process.⁴

In addition, the Osaka Action Agenda included another famous APEC jargon, "concerted unilateral actions". This was proposed as a keyword in a draft Agenda, possibly in the upper case ("Concerted Unilateral Actions") or the acronym "CUA", but was deleted in the finalized Agenda on the request of the United States, which could not accept that liberalization with the specific deadline could be completed through unilateral actions (Ogita 1997: 16), with the only exception as follows (APEC Leaders Meeting 1995b: Part One, Section B, Action Process, Preparation / *Italicized* by the author quoting)

Each APEC economy will begin to develop its Action Plan immediately after the Osaka Economic Leaders' Meeting. This Action Plan will elaborate steps toward achieving the objectives set out in Section C, including both *concerted unilateral actions* to be taken in line with issue-specific guidelines and collective actions.

Although the term "concerted unilateral actions" appeared only once in the Osaka Action Agenda, it was in a position to be applied to most parts of the liberalization such as progressive tariff and non-tariff measures reduction, and progressive reduction and elimination of exceptions and restriction in investments. According to the Osaka Action Agenda, substantial parts of the APEC liberalization were to be conducted in concert but unilaterally (Ogita 2001: 35-36).

II-5. Vancouver, 1997

The APEC liberalization process after 1996, which is often called the Individual Action Plan (IAP) process or mechanism, has been based on the Osaka Action Agenda in principle, and there has been no special principle added. EVSL, however, might be located outside the IAP process and, if so, may have other principles of liberalization.

As mentioned in I-1, the fundamental document of EVSL was the Annex to the ninth

.

⁴ For the details of problems regarding the "Flexibility" principle as well as the "Comprehensiveness" principle, refer to Ogita and Takoh (1997).

Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement adopted at Vancouver in November 1997. It contained the aforementioned phrase "the APEC principle of voluntarism" for the first time in APEC's history, as well as the frequent expression "voluntary liberalization" (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1997: Annex, Paragraph 7 / *Italicized* by the author quoting):

We [Ministers] agree to pursue an ongoing programme of *voluntary* liberalization with respect to these sectors. We affirm our commitment to continue developing liberalization initiative among APEC members, and to build on APEC's early *voluntary* liberalization in these sectors as a basis for extending participation beyond our region and, where appropriate, for incorporation into the WTO.

As also shown in the name itself, EVSL emphasized the voluntary principle, which was initially shown at the Osaka Ministerial and Leaders Meeting as mentioned above.

In addition to that, the Annex for EVSL mentioned the following point, which corresponded to the "Flexibility" principle in the Osaka Action Agenda (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1997: Annex, Paragraph 3 / *Italicized* by the author quoting):

They [APEC Ministers Responsible for Trade] directed officials to the merits of pursuing liberalization in sectors ... having regard to ... APEC members, taking into account of the different levels of economic development and diverse circumstances of APEC member economies ...

In sum, it can be said that, in principle, EVSL was still in line with the Osaka Action Agenda. In fact, the Annex also stated the following (APEC Ministerial Meeting 1997: Annex, Paragraph 1 / *Italicized* by the author quoting):

... they [APEC Ministers Responsible for Trade] also reaffirmed their determination to continue APEC's leadership and credibility in trade liberalization in accordance with the general principles set out in the Osaka Action Agenda.

III. An Analysis of the Principles of APEC

III-1. Classifying the Principles of APEC

The "principles" reviewed above are highly diversified and need to be classified; There can be two axes of classification.

One is an external-internal axis. On the one hand, there are principles about the external character of APEC, which define what or how the institution should be seen by the outsiders. For example, "open regionalism", which means that the outcomes of the liberalization are open for countries outside APEC, can be classified into this category. On the other hand, principles such as "non-formal consultative exchanges of views" or "voluntarism" are a kind of internal code of conduct, which controls the actions of individual members and the interactions among members.

The other axis can be a general-specific one. In this analysis, "specific" means liberalization-specific. General principles are, for example, "equal respect for the views of all participants" and "complementary relationship with existing organization", whereas liberalization-specific ones are "open regionalism", "voluntarism" and "flexibility". This axis is related with the development of APEC because liberalization-specific principles naturally emerged after the institution focused on the intra-regional liberalization agenda in 1993.

The table below shows the classified main principles of APEC.

Table: Classification of main principles of APEC

	External	Internal	
General	✓ Complementary relationship with existing organization	 ✓ Non-formal consultative exchanges of views ✓ Consideration to the differences in the stage of economic development and in the socio-political system ✓ Open dialogue and consensus-building ✓ Equal respect for the views of all participants 	
Liberalization -specific	✓ Open regionalism✓ WTO-consistency✓ Non-discrimination	 ✓ Comprehensiveness ✓ Comparability ✓ Flexibility ✓ Voluntarism ✓ Concerted-unilateralism 	

III-2. Considering the Internal Principles of APEC

Considering the internal principles contributes to the articulation of what APEC can and cannot do, which is the purpose of this paper.

In **I-1**, the author pointed out "the APEC principle of voluntarism" --- to which Japan

objected to its application to specific elements of the EVSL initiative --- did not necessarily have firm, formal or historical grounds. It was true that the voluntary principle, which had initially appeared in the seventh year, was relatively new in APEC's decade-long history. It was also true, however, that almost all liberalization-specific internal principles appeared in the mid-90's, when APEC struggled to establish the intra-regional liberalization scheme towards the Bogor goal set in 1994. Those principles seemed to be based on earlier, more abstract internal principles. For example, the principle of voluntarism or concerted-unilateralism, which could be understood as mutually overlapping concepts, could originate in the non-bidingness under the principles of "non-formal consultative exchanges of views" or "open dialogue and consensus-building". The flexibility principle should be a more direct reflection of the principle "consideration to the differences in the stage of economic development and in the socio-political system". In this sense, liberalization-specific internal principles emerging in the mid-90's are not necessarily new and historically groundless.

On the other hand, the author also stated that the United States, for example, may have lacked enough understanding of the principles on which APEC had actually been working with. The problem may, however, be the difference in understanding, rather than the poor understanding of APEC's history and character. As explained above, internal principles emerging in the mid-90's are possibly constructed on the foundations of older principles. According to the author's interviews with some American experts, however, most of them understand that APEC's character fundamentally changed with the Bogor Declaration, which set the deadline for the intra-regional liberalization. They consider the APEC process discontinuously, whereas Asian members --- and maybe APEC itself --- do continuously. This radical gap could be the an origin of the failure of EVSL and the recent decline of APEC.

IV. Conclusive Reflection: Towards an Efficient and Effective APEC

As stated in **I-2**, it is necessary to make APEC efficient and effective, especially in the coming years with the WTO round. The first thing the APEC members should do for this purpose is to honestly and sincerely discuss the discrepancy in their understanding of the body, and the nature and feasibility of the Bogor goal. Consensus hardly seems to exist among the members on the vision of the goal of "free and open trade and investment in the Asia-Pacific",

and the bindingness of the 2010/2020 deadlines. The year 2010 --- the Bogor deadline for the industrialized members --- is not a distant future. Due to the importance of the Bogor goal for APEC, its *de facto* invalidation will give a serve negative impact to the institution nine years later (Ogita 2001: 66).

What can APEC do and cannot do? The elimination of all trade and investment barriers by the Bogor deadline is impossible for APEC to bring about.⁵ Even an EVSL-like sectoral liberalization initiative is difficult if it has some biding aspects. Some certain and valuable areas in which APEC can do something is in facilitation and ecotech. To strengthen the activities in those areas is important and effective in revitalizing APEC. It is valuable and necessary to deepen studies for establishing Individual Action Plans on ecotech, proposed at the twelfth Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement adopted at Bandar Seri Begawan in November 2000 (APEC Ministerial Meeting 2000: Paragraph 36). Liberalization, however, is also still an important task for APEC. Concerted unilateral actions, or the IAP process, is unique, effective and feasible for the institution. The APEC liberalization should be under the framework of this system, and the system should be improved without changing its essential nature. Finally, and foremostly, principles of APEC should be reviewed, discussed and reestablished among the members. This will help articulate what APEC can and cannot do, and more forward for an efficient and effective APEC.

⁵ Also refer to Garnaut (1999).

Bibliography

APEC Documents (available at the Meeting Documents Center, Publication & Library at the APEC Secretariat's Website at http://www.apecsec.org.sg/ other than the Eminent Persons Group documents)
APEC Leaders Meeting (1993), "APEC Leaders Economic Vision Statement", November 1993, Blake Island.
(1994), "APEC Economic Leaders' Declaration of Common Resolve", November 1994, Bogor.
(1995a), "APEC Economic Leaders' Declaration for Action", November 1995, Osaka.
(1995b), "Osaka Action Agenda: Implementation of the Bogor Declaration", November 1995, Osaka.
(1996), "APEC Economic Leaders' Declaration: From Vision to Action", November 1996, Subic.
(1997), "APEC Economic Leaders Declaration: Connecting the APEC Community", November 1997, Vancouver.
(1998), "APEC Economic Leaders Declaration: Strengthening the Foundations for Growth", November 1998, Kuala Lumpur.
(1999), "The Auckland Challenge: APEC Economic Leaders' Declaration", September 1999, Auckland.
(2000), "Delivering to the Community: APEC Economic Leaders' Declaration", November 2000, Bandar Seri Begawan.
APEC Ministerial Meeting (1989a), "First Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement", November 1989, Canberra.
(1989b), "Chairman's Summary Statement", November 1989, Canberra.
(1990), "Second Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement", July 1989, Singapore.
(1991), "Third Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement", November 1991, Seoul.
(1992), "Fourth Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement", September 1992, Bangkok.
(1993a), "Fifth Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement", November 1993, Seattle.
(1993b), "Declaration on an Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation Trade and Investment Framework", November 1993, Seattle.
(1994), "Sixth Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement", November 1994, Jakarta.
(1995), "Seventh Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement", November 1991, Osaka.
(1996), "Eighth Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement", November 1991, Manila.
(1997), "Ninth Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement", November 1997, Vancouver.

(1998), "Tenth APEC Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement", November 1998, Kuala Lumpur.
(1999), "Eleventh APEC Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement", September 1999, Auckland.
(2000), "Twelfth APEC Ministerial Meeting Joint Statement", November 2000, Bandar Seri Begawan.
Eminent Persons Group (1993), "A Vision for APEC: Towards an Asia Pacific Economic Community", in Selected APEC Documents 1989-1994, Singapore: APEC Secretariat.
(1994), "Achieving the APEC Vision: Free and Open Trade in the Asia Pacific", in Selected APEC Documents 1989-1994, Singapore: APEC Secretariat.

Others

- Bodde Jr., William (1994), View from the 19th Floor: Reflections of the First APEC Executive Director, Singapore: Institute of Southeast Asian Studies.
- Funabashi, Yoichi (1995), *Asia Pacific Fusion: Japan's Role in APEC*, Washington, DC: Institute for International Economics.
- Garnaut, Ross (1999), "APEC Ideas and Reality: History and Prospects", Paper to the 25th Pacific Trade and Development Conference, Osaka, July 16-18, 1999.
- Hirano, Akiko (1996), *Legal Aspects of the Institutionalization of APEC*, IDE-APEC Study Center Working Paper Series 95/96-No.6, Tokyo: Institute of Developing Economies.
- Ogita, Tatsushi (1997), *The Origins of Contrasting Views on APEC*, IDE APEC Study Center Working Paper Series 96/97-No.5, Tokyo: Institute of Developing Economies.
- (2000), Japan's Policy Making in the APEC EVSL Consultations: Its Actors, Process and Interpretations, IDE APEC Study Center Working Paper Series 99/00-No.4, Chiba: Institute of Developing Economies, Japan External Trade Organization.
- (2001), *Tenki ni Sashikakatta APEC* (APEC at a Crossroads), Tokyo: Fuji Research Institute Corporation.
- Ogita, Tatsushi and Daisuke Takoh (1997), *The Making of the Osaka Action Agenda and Japan's Individual Action Plan: The APEC Policy Making Process in Japan Revisited*, IDE APEC Study Center Working Paper Series 96/97-No.7, Tokyo: Institute of Developing Economies.
- Okamoto, Jiro (2000), *The Political Process of APEC Early Voluntary Sectoral Liberalisation: Setting the Research Agenda*, IDE APEC Study Center Working Paper Series 99/00-No.1, Chiba: Institute of Developing Economies, Japan External Trade Organization.
- Wesley, Michael (2000), *The Politics of Early Voluntary Sectoral Liberalisation in Australia*, Chiba: Institute of Developing Economies, Japan External Trade Organization.

List of Publications from the IDE APEC Study Center

FY 1995/96

IDE APEC Study Center Working Paper Series

- No.1 Hiroki Kawai and Iwao Tanaka, "Measuring the Cost of Protection in Japan", 1990.
- No.2 Fumio Yoshino, "Trade Impediments of Agricultural Products and Food".
- No.3 Haruko Yamashita, "Factors Affecting Domestic Price Differentials in the Japanese Fisheries and Marine Products".
- No.4 Kunihiro Ohishi, "Factors Affecting Domestic Price Differentials in the Petroleum Products".
- No.5 Hideki Ishikawa, "Factors Affecting Domestic Price Differentials in the Japanese Electric and Electronic Machinery Products".
- No.6 Akiko Hirano, "Legal Aspects of the Institutionalization of APEC".
- No.7 Tatsushi Ogita, "The APEC Policy-Making Process in Japan".
- No.8 Jiro Okamoto, "An Approach towards Australia's Foreign Economic Policy Making Process".

FY 1996/97

1. Report

The View of Economic and Technology Cooperation in APEC

Edited by Keiji Omura

Chapter I	General Perspective on the Economic And Technology Cooperation of APEC (by Keiji
	Omura)
Chapter II	Trade Flow and Foreign Direct Investment in APEC Region (by Satoru Okuda)
Chapter III	Constant-Market Share Analysis and Open Regionalism: A Study Suggestion (by Hiroya
	Ichikawa)
Chapter IV	Development and Stability of the Asia-Pacific Regional Market: How to Stabilize the
	Development Path of the East-Asian Market by Establishing a Framework for Better
	Risk Management (by Toshihiko Kinoshita)
Chapter V	Human Development in the Case of Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (by Tomohiro
_	Uchida)
Chapter VI	APEC Cooperation for Adjustment toward Emerging Problems (by Masatake Wada)
Chapter VII	Japan's ODA and APEC (by Takeshi Mori)

2. IDE APEC Study Center Working Paper Series

- No.1 Shigeru Itoga, "Labor Issues and APEC Liberalization".
- No.2 Jiro Okamoto, "Asian Regionalism and Japan".
- No.3 Jiro Okamoto, "Foreign Economic Policy Making in Australia: Analytical Framework and the Role of the State".
- No.4 Shigeki Higashi, "Economic Policy and the Growth of Local Manufactures in Thailand".
- No.5 Tatsushi Ogita, "The Origins of Contrasting Views on APEC".
- No.6 Daisuke Takoh, "China's APEC Policy and the Accession to the WTO".
- No.7 Tatsushi Ogita and Daisuke Takoh, "The Making of the Osaka Action Agenda and Japan's Individual Action Plan".
- No.8 Hiroki Tohya, "TRIPs and Policies of APEC on Intellectual Property Rights: Economic Theory and Political Reality".
- No.9 Ippei Yamazawa, "APEC's Liberalization and Impediments in Japan: Overview of Services Trade".
- No.10 Kunihiro Ohishi, "Survey of Impediments to Trade and Investment in Japan -Distribution Services".
- No.11 Hidenobu Okuda, "Impediments in Japanese Banking Industry".
- No.12 Tsutomu Chano, "Impediments to Service Trade in the Insurance Sector".
- No.13 Masanao Terashima, "Trade and Investment Barriers, and Domestic-Foreign Price Differentials in

- Transport Services".
- No.14 Schunichi Hiraki, "Impediments in Construction and Engineering Services".
- No.15 Haruko Yamashita, "Trade Impediments and Domestic Price Differentials in the Japanese Telecommunications Sector".
- No.16 Kazuhiko Yokota, "Impediments to International Service Transactions in the Health-related and Social Services Sector".
- No.17 Shujiro Urata and Hiroki Kawai, "The Cost of Regulation in the Japanese Service Industries".
- No.18 Marina Fe B. Durano, "Barriers to Cross-Border Provision of Services within the APEC: with a Focus on the Movement of Persons".
- No.19 Kahlil Rowter, "Training as a Vehicle for Enhanced Growth: A Study of Human Resource Development Needs for Enhanced Investment and Cooperation among APEC Members".
- No.20 Li Kun Wang, "The Effect and Strategy of Trade Liberalization for China".
- No.21 Zhao Jiang Lin, "Openness of China's Manufacturing Sectors and Its APEC Policy".

3. Reports of Commissioned Studies

Center for APEC Studies, Nankai University, *Economic Policy in APEC: The Case of China Policy*. Institute of Economics and Social Research, Faculty of Economics, University of Indonesia, *Economic Policy in APEC: The Case of Indonesia*.

Philippine Institute for Development Studies, *Economic Policy in APEC: The Case of the Philippines*. Faculty of Economics, Chulalongkorn University, *Economic Policy in APEC: The Case of Thailand*.

FY 1997/98

1. Report

Deepening Economic Interdependence in the APEC Region

Edited by Keiji Omura

Overview	(by Keiji Omura)
Chapter I	Deepening Economic Interdependence in the APEC Region: Boom and Vulnerability
	through Trade Linkages (by Hiroshi Osada)
Chapter II	Can a Sub-regional Group Enhance the Tie?: with Emphasis on East Asia (by Satoru
	Okuda)
Chapter III	The Background and Causes of the Current Financial Crisis in Indonesia (by Masaaki
	Komatsu)
Chapter IV	ASEAN's Relationships with America (by Takeshi Aoki)
Chapter V	The Historical Development of Australia-ASEAN Relations: Implications for APEC into
	the Year 2000 (by Jiro Okamoto)
Chapter VI	Industrial Policies and Trade Liberalization: The Automotive Industry in Thailand and
	Malaysia (by Mai Fujita)
Appendix	China's Policy for the Liberalization of Trade and Investment through the

2. IDE APEC Study Center Working Paper Series

- No.1 Akira Kuroda, "Stakes in Common: APEC's Technological Cooperation".
- No.2 Shigeru Itoga, "The Challenge to the Enhancement of Technological Level of Thai Industry".
- No.3 Atsusuke Kawada, "Current Situation and Outlook for Economic and Technical Cooperation among Developing Countries in APEC: Singapore Cooperation toward Neighbouring Asian Developing Countries".

APEC/IAP and Negotiations for the Accession to the WTO in 1997 (by Daisuke Takoh)

- No.4 Shunji Karikomi, "The Development Strategy for SMEs in Malaysia".
- No.5 Nobuhiro Horii, "APEC Cooperation and Strategies for the Introduction of Renewable Energy into Developing Countries".
- No.6 Colin K.L. Chang, "Lessons in Technology Development: The Japanese Experience".

3. Reports of Commissioned Studies

Urban Ecosystem Management, Institute for Environment and Development (LESTARI), Universiti

Kebangsaan Malaysia, *Urbanization and Environment in Malaysia: Managing the Impact.*Tsai She Hsien, Taiwan Research Institute, *A Study in the technological Development of Taiwan's Enterprise and Technology Transfer with Direct Investment.* (in Japanese).

FY 1998/99

1. Reports

Trade Liberalization and Facilitation in APEC: A Re-evaluation of APEC Activities Edited by Satoru Okuda

Chapter I	"Potential" APEC Sub-regions: Current Status and Future (by Satoru Okuda)
Chapter II	The AFTA-CER Linkage Dialogue: An Endeavour for Closer Relations between
	SRTAs within APEC (by Jiro Okamoto)
Chapter III	Vietnam in APEC: Changes in Trade Patterns after the Open Door Policy (by Mai
	Fujita)
Chapter IV	Development Policies for Small and Medium Enterprises in APEC: In the Case of the
	Philippines (by Mayumi Fukumoto)
Chapter V	Capital Account Liberalization in Emerging Markets: Lessons from the Asian Currency
	Crisis (by Shunji Karikomi)
Chapter VI	Korea's New Accounting Standards and Its Impact on APEC (by Shiro Takahashi and
	Satoru Okuda)

Future Prospects of Supporting Industries in Thailand and Malaysia

Edited by Ryuichiro Inoue and Shigeru Itoga

Chapter I	Overview (by Shigeru Itoga)
Chapter II	Future Prospect of Supporting Industries in Thailand and Malaysia (by Ryuichiro Inoue)
Chapter III	Fostering Supporting Industries in Thailand through the Linkage between Local and
	Foreign Interests, the Case of Mold and Die Sector (by Jun Tsunekawa)
Chapter IV	Development and Enhancement of Supporting Industries in Malaysia (by Kyohei
	Yamazaki)
Chapter V	Real State of Mold & Die Industries in Asia and Their Relationship with Japan's Mold & Die Industry (by Etsujiro Yokota)

2. IDE APEC Study Center Working Paper Series

Ratana Eiamkanitchat, "The Role of Small and Medium Supporting Industries in Japan and Thailand".

3. Reports of Commissioned Studies

Rajah Rasiah, IKMAS, UKM and Faculty of Economics and Business, UNIMAS, State Support and Machine Tool Subcontracting Links in Malaysia : Microelectronics and Passenger Car Assemblies.

Kitti Limskul, Faculty of Economics, Chulalongkorn University, Future Prospects of Selected Supporting Industries in Thailand.

FY 1999/2000

1. Report

Industrial Linkage and Direct Investment in APEC

Edited by Satoru Okuda

Chapter I Industrial Linkage and Direct Investment in APEC (by Satoru Okuda)

Chapter II Foreign Direct Investment, Trade, and Vietnam's Interdependence in the APEC Region

(by Mai Fujita)

Chapter III Technical Assistance to Japanese Affiliates: The Case of the Autoparts Industry in

Thailand (by Yoshi Takahashi)

Chapter IV Russia's Participation in APEC and Economic Development in the Far East (by

Mayumi Fukumoto)

Chapter V Macroeconomic Impacts in APEC Region: Measurement by APEC Link Model (by

Jinichi Uemura)

2. IDE APEC Study Center Working Paper Series

- No. 1 Jiro Okamoto, "The Political Process of APEC Early Voluntary Sectoral Liberalisation: Setting the Research Agenda".
- No. 2 Akiko Yanai, "APEC and the WTO: Seeking Opportunities for Cooperation".
- No. 3 Fumio Nagai, "The APEC EVSL Initiative and the Policy Making Process in Thailand".
- No. 4 Tatsushi Ogita, "Japan's Policy Making in the APEC EVSL Consultations: Its Actors, Process and Interpretations".
- No. 5 Yutaka Onishi, "Politics by Mass Media?: Changes in the Korean Policy toward APEC Early Voluntary Sectoral Liberalization".
- No. 6 Satoshi Oyane, "America's Non-"Two-Level Game" at the APEC EVSL Initiative: Structural Change in Trade Politics".

3. Reports of Commissioned Studies

Michael Wesley, School of Political Science, University of New South Wales, The Politics of Early Voluntary Sectoral Liberalisation in Australia.

Hanafi Sofyan, A. Syafi'i, Yasmi Adriansyah and Lynda Kurnia Wardhani, Institute for International Finance and Commodities (Jakarta), The Policy Making Consultations of APEC Early Voluntary Sectoral Liberalization: The Case of Indonesia.

IDE APEC Study Center publications may be downloaded from:

http://www.ide.go.jp/English/APEC/m96000.html

IDE APEC STUDY CENTER Working Paper Series 00/01 – No. 4

On Principles of APEC

by Tatsushi Ogita

MARCH 2001

APEC STUDY CENTER INSTITUTE OF DEVELOPING ECONOMIES, JETRO

3-2-2 Wakaba, Mihama-ku, Chiba-shi Chiba 261-8545, JAPAN Web Site: http://www.ide.go.jp